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Foreword &


Acknowledgements


History is an elusive concept: a written or oral record of events is no guide to its authenticity and, even after the lapse of time (perhaps especially after the lapse of time), there is no guarantee that that original record is either accurate, non-tendentious or definitive. Whose perception of events are we relying on? What conditions prevailed at the time of recording those events? What role does nostalgia play in the reminiscence of those events? When historians attempt to define a ‘Zeitgeist’, this could be no more than a new perception of events, tainted by new prejudices engendered by subsequent ‘history’. One solution to such dilemmas facing the recorder of events is to ignore them all and simply allow history to write itself (which it manifestly does!), then to comment upon it. However, at this point, other dangers lurk: what is the role of the observer-interpreter and how is his perception coloured by his own, possibly prejudiced, stance?


We can, of course, dismiss all this philosophical conjecture and rely entirely on ‘face-value’ history, or ‘take-it-for-granted’ history, the sum of which is more like a ‘take-it-or-leave-it’ account. It may not be ideal but, like a theatre director who encourages his actors to inject their own interpretation of a script, the historian-director can at least offer his reader the opportunity to interpret events for himself. What has to be accepted, however, is the uncontrollable nature of those events. History doesn’t just happen, it lurches along in fits and starts, short bursts of civic or individual energy being punctuated by longer bouts of inertia, moments of elation alternating with periods of frustration. One family’s achievements and advances are matched by another’s setbacks and reversals. History abounds with ‘hiccups’ punctuating the flow of time and events, deceiving the optimist and slowing the pace of progress; momentum is relative. Local development has its own momentum and does not necessarily (indeed, rarely does it) correlate with the national.


The role of chance, the interaction between people and events, the catalyst of exterior forces, the intervention of government, the arbitrariness of decision-making, prevarication and delay, all play their part in forming the continuum of history and they have all performed a function in Petersfield’s development. It is this inconstancy which I have tried to portray in my account of events. Petersfield has, by chance or design, pursued a policy of gradualism in its affairs in the postwar years, and this in itself has contributed to the overall character of our town. The impartial observer probably does not exist, but, since I am not a native of Petersfield myself, I hope at least to have been objective in my judgements and to have gained from the benefit or, more presumptuously, from the wisdom of distance – and thereby to have portrayed the town I have come to love as comprehensively and as dispassionately as possible in the pages that follow.


Pre-war Petersfield was, naturally, a different Petersfield. Commentators have described it as ‘one of England’s prettiest villages’ with a quality of sleepiness, ‘dozing tranquilly’ between bouts of fervour on market days. The population was sufficiently small for most of its inhabitants to recognise, if not know, almost all their fellow townsfolk. The immediate postwar ambience was not too dissimilar: the physical environment was unchanged, the town having suffered virtually no damage in the war; the shops were those of pre-war days and remained in the hands of the same owners; families continued to make their own entertainment, unfettered by the universal availability of television or cars.


But, slowly, austerity has given way to prosperity, and that has changed everything. The first aim of this book has been to illustrate and interpret those changes that have taken place in the town over the second half of the twentieth century. However, since historical happenings do not adhere to convenient time periods, nor follow any logical pattern, references have been made to wider events, external forces at work on the community or a general appreciation of matters of national or international relevance.


The bulk of the material has been gleaned from the local press, which, while not perfect from the point of view of accuracy or historical authenticity, does provide a framework for comment and interpretation. Anecdotal material from individual interviews has been added to the core text with the aim of substantiating the press reports and to personalise the account. In addition, some historical detail has occasionally been added to give background substance and to place the events within the context of the overall story of Petersfield since the Second World War. Since ‘living memory’ accounts are such a valuable and indispensable commodity to the oral historian, I have concluded each chapter with a section dedicated to ‘Departures’, which, in their own way, indicate breaks with the past, while the ‘Plus ça change . . .’ tailpieces are there to remind the complacent that we can neither decide the pace of history nor expect too much from it.


I am indebted to a very large number of people for their contributions to my efforts: to the staff of Petersfield Library, to my colleagues at Petersfield Museum and to the undermentioned contributors and correspondents, all of whom have shared with me my fascination for the development of our wonderful town. I apologise for any inadvertent omissions or unintentional errors and, finally, thank my daughter, Anna-Louise, for reading the manuscript and making many helpful suggestions.


David Jeffery









CHAPTER ONE


Austerity


1945–52


VE DAY AND VJ DAY



As the seven members of Emanuel School’s Windsor Rhythm Kings Jazz Band spontaneously clambered on top of the air-raid shelter in front of St Peter’s Church on the evening of VE (Victory in Europe) Day, 8 May 1945, to play to the joyful crowds which were gathering around them, little did they realise that they were not only celebrating the end of six years of conflict in Europe, but also heralding the imminent emergence of a new Petersfield. The Emanuel boys formed part of a contingent of more than a thousand schoolchildren who had found themselves evacuated to Petersfield during the war years and who were shortly to leave the town that summer, thus reducing the town to its ‘normal’ size of about 5,000 inhabitants. The population of the town, which had taken a century to double in size since the 1840s, was about to treble in size in the next half-century.


On the day after VE Day, the front page of the normal Wednesday edition of the Hants and Sussex News carried a mundane report of the proceedings of the Petersfield UDC (Urban District Council), including information on respirators (gas masks) and hackney carriage licences; a warning about the local gas supply; and a short condemnation of the misuse of the children’s swings on the Heath. A mere two column inches on page three were devoted to a bland acknowledgement of the end of the war in Europe. Lack of rapid technology in the news media had made it impossible, until the following week, to mention that ‘the two days officially set apart for the purpose [of celebrating] were days of great joy and relaxation, the weather being for the most part favourable and pleasant, and in town and country alike, people generally kept holiday and were strengthened and refreshed for the great and continued effort which still lies ahead before world peace can be secured’. In the week following VE Day, the Petersfield (ex-services) Fund organised a programme of dances, a whist drive, a celebrity concert, a boxing tournament and an Empire Day Ball. There were also thanksgiving services in all the local churches.


Three months later, VJ (Victory over Japan) Day passed by relatively quietly, partly because the weather on the evening of 15 August had been too cold to attract people to dance in the open air; instead, the town hall was the venue for public dancing. The children of Petersfield had their own special jollification to celebrate VJ Day in September: the UDC arranged a party for more than 550 youngsters at the town hall, with music, tea, community singing and conjuring and Punch and Judy shows.


In 1946, the Clerk of the UDC announced that food gifts from the colonies were still being received in Petersfield: ‘150 tins of marmalade and grapefruit, a gift from the people of South Africa, have been distributed to 75 necessitous persons.’ In June that year there were celebrations to commemorate the first anniversary of the end of the war, with a cinema show at the Savoy, a fancy-dress parade, children’s sports and a Punch and Judy show, dancing and community singing, and a tug-of-war and boxing displays.
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Petersfield population 1801–2001. (David Brooks)


NATIONAL AND LOCAL POLITICS



With the celebrations over, the task of conducting the 1945 general election preoccupied certain sections of the community, despite there being, according to the press, ‘not much evidence of public excitement’. Polling Day was 5 July and, of the three candidates standing in Petersfield, it was General Sir George Jeffreys, the Conservative MP for the town since 1941, who won with a lead of more than 12,000 votes over his Liberal and Labour rivals. Shortly afterwards, he announced that he would not be standing in the next election and the Hon. Peter Legh was adopted as the prospective Conservative candidate; he was elected in October 1951 with a majority of more than 14,000 votes over his opponents.


Local political interest centred around the immediate needs of the population, especially those of returning servicemen. There were calls for a maternity ward and an operating theatre at Petersfield Cottage Hospital and dedicated beds for patients recovering from illness or injuries sustained during war service. As elsewhere in Britain, there were vociferous demands for houses to be built urgently; for the moment, the projects suggested by the Advisory Committee of the Memorial Fund to provide public baths or a library for the town were rejected as of secondary importance.


Remnants of war – there had been very little material damage to the town in the war – included some Nissen huts on the Heath and air-raid shelters which were removed early in 1946. Some buildings used in wartime – Steep House, used by French Resistance workers as a safe haven, and Heath House, used as a sanatorium for evacuees since 1939 – were closed. The old library room at the town hall, given up at the outset of war to house the ARP office, now became the offices of the Surveyor’s Department of the UDC because of their increased workload. The library had had temporary premises at the (Working) Men’s Club in Station Road, but Harry Roberts, the ex-London doctor now living in Froxfield and supporting various Petersfield enterprises, suggested building a third storey on top of the town hall to accommodate the library and a reading room. His intellectual impetus was, as ever, matched by his financial generosity and he offered the first £100 towards this project ‘to start the ball rolling’. Lord Horder, who lived at Ashford Chace, later contributed a further £100 to the scheme. Harry Roberts’ concern for the town’s future was expressed in a letter to the Hants and Sussex News.




Petersfield’s steady drift into a suburban status, which has lately begun and threatens to advance, is lamented by all who care for individuality, character, distinction and beauty. The normal population of Petersfield is rather too small for a vigorous market town possessing, as it should do, its theatre, art gallery and the rest; and one or two light industries, such as printing, bookbinding, furniture making, would go well to supplement the rural educational potentialities.





THE EDUCATION DEBATE



Of immediate priority for Petersfield was the provision of a site for a new secondary school, and the County Land Officer identified the Causeway Farm beyond the then gasworks (now the Tesco site) to be reserved for this purpose. Despite the determination of Miss Nora Tomkins, the Chairman of the Town Planning Committee, to put Petersfield on the map as a pioneer town in ‘what education should be now and in the future’, it was to be a further twelve years before her dream of a secondary school on this site was realised. The old (pre-war) senior and junior council schools in St Peter’s Road had become woefully inadequate and, even with the use of temporary hutted accommodation, it was clear that a fresh look at educational provision in the town was long overdue. The school leaving age had been raised to 15 in 1947, and this put even more pressure on the authorities to seek a solution to the overcrowding then prevalent in the town’s educational establishments.


Miss Tomkins had recommended to the Petersfield UDC that they ask the county council to consider provision for all educational needs at one location, from infancy to adult life, and comprising grammar, modern and technical sections in the secondary sector, in accordance with the provisions of the 1944 Education Act. She wanted Love Lane to be earmarked as this site for all the necessary buildings, but the UDC Chairman felt that the Causeway site would be preferable as it was much larger, could accommodate the school’s own playing fields, as the UDC was not intending to offer them the continued use of the football pitch in Love Lane, and would allow for expansion in the future. This debate marked the start of a long, frustrating saga about the educational needs of Petersfield children which Miss Tomkins was not to see resolved during her period of office. She had been the first elected woman member of the Urban District Council and retired from it in November 1945 after nineteen years’ service to the community.


The whole question of the type of secondary school to be chosen and where and when the building would take place, became the subject of considerable controversy and not a little prevarication for many years after the publication of the 1944 (Butler) Education Act. It was for this reason that the assumption was made that as Churcher’s College was a grammar school, the old Petersfield Senior School would become the new secondary modern school, in line with the educational definitions of the 1944 Act. However, despite the tacit acceptance of the title ‘Secondary Modern’ – a school badge and a navy-blue and yellow uniform had even been created, although few of the children’s parents could afford these – there was never an official naming ceremony and at various times between 1945 and 1957 the school was referred to as the Petersfield County School, the Petersfield County Secondary School, and even the Modern Secondary School. The pupils themselves knew it as PSM (Petersfield Secondary Modern), but the label (unfortunately for the children) carried with it a certain stigma, as it indicated a failure to obtain the 11-plus examination for entry to grammar school. In 1947, the Hampshire County Council added to the educational planning confusion which was unsettling the town by proposing an all-purpose (i.e. comprehensive) school for girls, and a secondary modern school for boys.


Yet another call for the building of Petersfield’s new secondary modern school was made in the spring of 1951. In the original development scheme for the town’s schools, the programme was to build a comprehensive school incorporating the Girls’ County High School and the secondary modern school in one building. However, the County Education Committee had still not reached a final decision and it was more than likely that the new school would house the former Senior Council School in St Peter’s Road and the local village schools. The former had a roll of nearly 400 between the ages of 11 and 15 and their classroom accommodation and playing space were hopelessly inadequate. As was the case in the war, supplementary halls in the town and the use of public grounds were hired to meet partially the educational needs of these pupils. A similarly desperate situation arose at primary level: the primary school had about 340 children in it and the roll was increasing year by year, with the result that, owing to lack of space, it was soon going to be impossible to admit any 5-year-olds.


Despite more calls by the parish councils for the building of a new secondary modern school for Petersfield, the project was again put on hold thanks to the restrictions on capital expenditure in the 1952 education budget, which forced another postponement. In addition to this setback, Mr E.J. Baker, the owner of the land, told the Hants and Sussex News that he did not intend to give permission for his land to be sold, as it would represent a loss to agriculture of valuable farming land. It was in the Causeway Meadows that it had been proposed to build the town’s new secondary modern school and, beside it, the school’s own playing fields, as the UDC was not intending to offer it the continued use of the future pitch in Love Lane. In the meantime, Mr E.C. Young was appointed Headmaster of the newly named Petersfield County Secondary School, and it was he who eventually saw the school through the difficult transition stage to its new premises in Cranford Road.


Churcher’s College and Peter Symonds School in Winchester had both applied for Direct Grant status under the new regulations, but both had been refused by the Ministry of Education. There were no Direct Grant schools in Hampshire at this time. However, Churcher’s College was granted voluntary-aided status in 1949, thus enabling its own governors to control its curriculum, school and boarding policy while Hampshire County Council financed its maintenance and controlled its pupil entries.


It was perhaps coincidental, but also thereby historically significant, that many head-teachers of Petersfield schools retired immediately after the war: Mr A.H.G. Hoggarth had been associated with Churcher’s College for thirty-five years, including eighteen years as its Head; Miss Emma Lowde had been the first and only Headmistress of the Girls’ County High School since its opening in 1918; Mr Wilfrid Bennetts had joined the staff of Petersfield Senior Council School in 1911 and succeeded Mr W.R. Gates as its Head in 1942. He had also played an active part in the life of the town and served on the Urban District Council for several years. His wife, Mrs Emily Bennetts, had been the Headmistress of Sheet School since 1919 and she also retired in 1946. At Bedales, Mr Freddie Meier, who had taken over the headship from the founder, Mr Badley, in 1935, was replaced by Mr Hector Jacks in 1946. Mr Jack le Grice, Headmaster of Churcher’s prep school under Mr Hoggarth, bought Broadlands in Ramshill and transformed it into his own Broadlands Prep School, preparing boys not just for Churcher’s College, but also for other grammar and private schools. The school was to survive successfully until Mr and Mrs le Grice retired some twenty-five years later. Another Prep School, Winton House, closed at the end of the school year 1946–7 when its Headmistress, Miss G.M. Williams, retired after twenty-three years’ service.


An educational era passed with the death in 1951 of Miss Annie Richardson who, with her sister Beatrice, had run Ling Riggs School in Sandringham Road for nearly half a century. They had come to Petersfield from London at the turn of the century and lived at 8 High Street, where their father was a bookseller. Thirty years later, the building was demolished by Woolworths for their new store.


Although Petersfield had lost two of its small private prep schools since the war, it shortly gained two more: Moreton House opened as a school in the old Hylton House in The Spain, and Dunannie began operating as Bedales pre-preparatory school in 1954. Dunannie, a large, partly seventeenth-century house between Petersfield and Steep, had become the centre of an experiment in friendship when young Germans and other Europeans had come to share their lives with young English students in 1948 under the auspices of The Friends Ambulance Group, which moved from London into the house as part of its relief work in postwar Europe. Dunannie moved ‘across the road’ into part of the Dunhurst premises in 1970.


The departure of evacuated children from the town at the end of the summer term in 1945 was as significant as it was sad. Emanuel School boys from London, who had far outnumbered the Churcher’s boys they had shared their school with, had celebrated the 350th anniversary of their foundation in May. The Headmaster, Mr C.G.M. Broom, spoke then of the ‘friendliness that had prevailed for six years between their hosts [Churcher’s College] and themselves as guests in Petersfield’. Similar sentiments were expressed by Miss Dorothy Chadwick, the Headmistress of Battersea Central School for Girls, who had shared the Petersfield Girls’ High School premises in the High Street and had held classes at Hylton House in The Spain and in various premises throughout the town.


In 1949, West Mark Camp School near Sheet Common, which had housed several hundred children evacuated from the Portsmouth area in the war, was chosen as the scene of a bold experiment in education. As a direct result of the successful wartime experience of bringing urban schoolchildren into a rural setting – for their own safety, but also enhancing their daily lives by giving them an appreciation of the countryside – ninety boys and sixty girls sent from the County of Middlesex arrived at West Mark Camp for a three months’ stay. The principal aims were to develop the spirit of living together and to create a mutual respect between townsfolk and countryfolk.


West Mark Camp was one of thirty country estates owned by the National Camps Corporation and let by them for varying periods to local education authorities as an experiment in boarding education.


THE MARKET DEBATE



At the meetings of the Petersfield Urban District Council in the immediate postwar years, a good deal of debate arose over the state and the quality of Petersfield cattle market. Projects were discussed for a new site for the market (the so-called ‘new market’) as the accommodation currently afforded in The Square was said to be poor, particularly with regard to the conditions for the livestock. A new site was suggested near Borough Farm (in Borough Road), but, in the view of one correspondent to the Squeaker, ‘this would lead the town to part with some of its ancient rights to a group of individuals who, having obtained that monopoly, proposed to exploit it for their private gain’. The council were prepared to discuss leasing the livestock rights. The auctioneers Hall, Pain and Foster and Hewitt and Lee abandoned the new market plan because of the costs involved and the opposition they had encountered to it.
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A sheep auction by Jacobs & Hunt in The Square, early 1950s. (The News Group)


Sporadically during the history of the market there were allegations of cruelty to the animals, which remained tethered for long periods of the day; occasionally there were accounts of heifers or calves which broke loose and ‘rampaged’ through the town. One report in 1947 described a ‘horrible exhibition of savagery’ which ensued when a heifer broke free from its tether at the railings in The Square and was pursued through the market and town by a yelling mob of men and boys, who were smashing it across the head and face with heavy sticks. These allegations, however, were vehemently denied in the following week’s Squeaker. Nevertheless, regardless of the accuracy or otherwise of such reports, it is clear that market conditions aroused feelings of anger in some onlookers and these strongly felt concerns marked the beginning of the eventual demise of the cattle market (which finally closed in 1962). The RSPCA also called for the market to be abolished; it talked of the ‘shocking scandal’ of the animals standing in The Square from 9 a.m. until 4 p.m. with no facilities for sheltering or watering them and with them tethered in overcrowded conditions.


Meanwhile, protests by Petersfield traders over the displacement of farmers and their livestock by stallholders led to their demanding that the UDC take immediate steps to earmark a more suitable site for the livestock market. Petersfield was, nevertheless, still predominantly an agricultural-based community with rural interests and, in the late summer of 1948, over 5,000 people went to Bell Hill (now the recreation ground) to see the biggest agricultural show ever held in Petersfield – and the first since 1938 – organised by the Fareham and Hampshire Farmers’ Club.


Another rural era passed when the cultivation of hops at Seward’s Farm at Weston ceased after 142 years. Traditionally, for a fortnight every September, 24 acres of hops were pulled from the vines by more than eighty families, the vast majority of whom came from Portsmouth. Christopher Seward’s last crop at Weston after twenty-five years was picked in 1946. Hops were still grown at Buriton, however, and schoolchildren were still being given time off school to harvest the crop in September each year, just as they had done during the pre-war and war years. The main Petersfield hop farms brought into the district about £30,000 each season, the bulk of which went towards labour costs, but this sum does reflect the value of the whole enterprise to the community.


THE Squeaker



The Hants and Sussex News, known to all (and, in an ironic fashion, to itself) as the Squeaker, remained as visually austere in 1945 as it had always been – perhaps consciously following the example of The Times, which resolutely retained its spread of small advertisements on its front page until Winston Churchill’s death in 1965. The Squeaker (as it will be referred to here) was a four-page broadsheet costing 1½d, with reports from Petersfield Petty Sessions and the two local councils (Urban and Rural) on the front page, small adverts on page two, announcements of forthcoming events on page three, and news articles and letters to the Editor on the back page.


However, it was not to remain immune from the postwar evolution in local life: with a change of ownership to Mr A.D. Millard, a London book publisher, in 1945, the structure and look of the paper underwent considerable modernisation over the next five years. It reached a wider readership, increased its circulation figures and published a short leading article each week. In 1946, its austere aspect and solemn prose gave way to larger front-page headlines, bolder typography in its page two advertisements and a wider reporting of news from Midhurst and ‘Round the District’. Its first lurid headline (‘Ran to girl with knife in his back’, on the stabbing of a boy in Liss by a sailor) and its first photograph (of Kathleen Money-Chappelle at the closure of her ‘Home from Home’ canteen) appeared and, in 1947, linotype was adopted, more pictorial adverts started to feature and the paper increased in size from four pages to six. In 1948, under its new Editor, Hardiman Scott, the Squeaker appeared in a new dress. For sixty-five years the front-page title of the newspaper had been printed in heavy Old English Gothic type. The new type adopted saved 7in of space as the lines were set closer together. The paper expanded to six pages in 1949, and its price rose from 1½d to 2d that year. It began to carry half-page advertisements and banner headlines of a whole page width. Many more photographs began to adorn not only the front, but also the inside pages.


[image: image]


Petersfield Post mastheads. (Author’s Collection)


It became more of a campaigning newspaper too. For instance, it called for a referendum on the future of Petersfield market, adopting the stance that change might be for the better now that cattle were being transported to and from further afield on market days. Also in 1947, the Squeaker’s new Comment column, dwelling on the attraction of Petersfield as a visitor town, suggested that ‘we would do well to give them a bigger welcome’. It felt that, without sacrificing any of its present charm, the Heath could be more tempting, and suggested the creation of a small beach and a paddling pool on the north side of the Pond, a tea house nearby, and greater publicity for the town’s summer sports of cricket and golf, both established favourites on the Heath for generations. Furthermore, the local amateur dramatic societies could be encouraged to provide outdoor entertainment on the Heath, with Shakespeare given ‘an open airing’, concerts by the Victoria Brass Band, and more attention drawn to the town’s historical and architectural beauties. To promote all this, a greater use of advertising was needed in neighbouring towns.


The Petersfield Weekly News had begun life in 1883 and had become the Hants and Sussex News in 1891 when Frank Carpenter became its Editor and the business was taken over by Mr A.W. Childs. Later, it removed to premises at the bottom of the High Street (now Your Move), then to Childs bookshop site (now Somerfield). The pre-war paper was known well outside the town for its intelligent and literate reporting. Indeed, it was also known as far afield as Africa: the first Mrs Rowswell, who had opened her newsagent’s in the High Street in 1916, passed on ownership of the shop to her two daughters, one of whom had a daughter living in Southern Rhodesia and who received the newspaper weekly. She in turn passed it to the natives who used it to roll their cigarettes in, as it had such fine, combustible paper!


PETERSFIELD IN THE MEDIA SPOTLIGHT



During a programme in a BBC radio series entitled Thank You for Your Letters, broadcast on the General Forces Network in 1946, a commentary on Petersfield described the town as ‘prosperous and bustling’. The Heath, Charles II, the Jolliffe family, Churcher’s College and St Peter’s Church were all mentioned in a series of brief verbal pictures.


Three years later, the broadcaster Brian Vesey-Fitzgerald was considerably more negative in his book Hampshire and the Isle of Wight in which he describes Petersfield as ‘a pleasant, rather sleepy town, which gives me the impression that it missed success centuries ago, and has been waiting ever since for another chance to turn up’. He called the statue of William III ‘quite the most ridiculous statue in England’, the manners in its tea shops and cafés ‘leaving much to be desired’, and he doubts if Petersfield would ever be considered a ‘first-class season’ town.


However, under Hardiman Scott, Frank Carpenter’s successor as Editor of the Squeaker, Petersfield’s association with the media was particularly favourable. This was exemplified later in 1949 when it was learnt that after only one year in the post, Mr Scott was leaving to join the staff of the BBC Midland Region. He had been in Petersfield since the end of the war and had identified himself closely with the cultural life of the town in that time. His talents as a poet, novelist and, above all, as a broadcaster were to ensure that his name became a household word in Britain during the 1950s. It may not have been entirely coincidental that it was Hardiman Scott’s Squeaker which had provided the information and pictures of the town from which two film companies would select their locations for two films to be made in the autumn and winter of 1949 and 1950.


In the autumn of 1949, many Petersfield schoolchildren played as extras in the film The Happiest Days of your Life, directed by Frank Launder and filmed at Byculla School in Rake, a private girls’ school later named Little Abbey. The stars of the film were Margaret Rutherford and Alastair Sim. It is hardly surprising that the newly recruited, budding stars still remember being paid handsomely for the enjoyment of waving from the coaches as they arrived at the school, playing lacrosse, marching noisily around the building, then participating in a grand pillow fight in the ‘dorms’! Churcher’s boys even had some speaking parts. To cap their joy, they were taken to London to see the premiere in Leicester Square.


In February 1950, the Hollywood film star Robert Montgomery was in Petersfield Square to direct some sequences for the film Your Witness, in which he also starred. Hundreds of people thronged the Market Square and took part in the crowd scenes.


The same month, nearly five hundred people crowded into the town hall to watch and hear the BBC programme chairman Guy Mackarness and the producer Rupert Annand invite about forty local townspeople to answer questions on topical issues sent in by listeners. The recordings were destined for a thirty-minute programme entitled Speak your Mind to be broadcast later on the West of England Home Service.


Sixteen months later, Petersfield went on the air again: the town was chosen for the staging of the 100th edition of the BBC’s Any Questions? Nearly seven hundred people were in the ‘Large Hall’ (Festival Hall) to hear Freddie Grisewood, the question master, open the programme and the panel of Ralph Wightman, Sir Steuart Wilson (a former Bedales Music Master), Sir Richard Acland and Sir ‘Bob’ Boothby (respectively Labour and Conservative politicians) answer the public’s questions.


THE HOUSE-BUILDING PROGRAMME



Among the public works projects undertaken in the immediate postwar period was, of course, a substantial housing programme. The Urban District Council site in Cranford Road which it had purchased in 1945 from the two owners, Mr Ted Canterbury and Mr E.J. Baker, was designated in 1946 to receive a total of twenty-eight dwellings. The first few houses at the Causeway end of the road had been completed before the war; however, by mid-1947, only three of the new properties had been completed and occupied, as there were only twenty men working on the project and with an overtime ban in force. In the town, there were still some eighty German POWs, and these men were temporarily employed on the council’s housing schemes to help with the building of streets and sewers; they – along with nearly half a million others who had been similarly detained in Britain after the war had ended – were eventually repatriated to Germany after spending ten months working in Petersfield. The general layout of the Cranford Road–Borough Grove–Grange Road estate was thought to be extremely wasteful by the infrastructure engineers, although of course it looked extremely attractive on the plan. In this respect, it resembled more a private development than a council project, with its central stream and ample green spaces and trees.


Despite Petersfield UDC’s relatively slow start to the postwar house-building programme, due mainly to the policy of ‘no pre-fabs’, the 1948 change of heart and decision to order 26 ‘Reema’ houses for Highfield Road took the total number of homes created by the end of 1949 to 80, with a further 34 under construction. By comparison, Biggleswade (Bedfordshire) had 248 (temporary or permanent) houses completed, Saffron Walden (Essex) 184 completed, and Stevenage (Hertfordshire) 160 completed. These Reema houses, built by Reema Construction Ltd, although prefabricated in their method of construction, were in fact considered to be permanent homes and were the subject of a compulsory purchase order by the Ministry of Health, thus intimating their approval. Construction on the Highfield Road and Borough Grove sites began in 1949 and was completed in little over a year.


The highest number of houses built in the UDC and RDC (Rural District Council) areas in one single year since the war was achieved in 1950, with 327 permanent homes completed, almost double the total number of those built between 1945 and 1949. The population of Petersfield recorded at the 1951 census (6,616) had also risen rapidly, by 22 per cent, since 1931.


By 1949, Petersfield felt that it was emerging well from the war and the UDC presented a note of success in its deliberations: the collective achievements of a new sports ground at Love Lane; a recreation ground at Bell Hill; an enlightened outlook on cultural activities which had produced grants for the Musical Festival and the repertory theatre; and the purchase of thirty-two Reema houses for Cranford Road exemplified the new optimism. Finally, a proposed boundary plan which merged the urban and rural areas outlined a possible new administrative convenience. In terms of population, it was expected that the town would double in size, and planning decisions were beginning to be made with this in mind.


[image: image]


Reema houses in Borough Grove, 1980s. (Petersfield Museum)


In the Rural District, more than two hundred families were still living in requisitioned premises after the war and there were 475 families waiting to be housed. In the UDC area, the problem was not so acute: only 10 families were in requisitioned houses and 15 families in the huts at ‘Oaklands Camp’, built at the top end of Oaklands Road by the Ministry of Works during the war to house a civil defence unit. The first families of squatters had moved there in 1946 (where they shared the camp with the German POWs employed in building the Cranford Road estate), while they waited to be relocated in council houses. In fact, the UDC area house-building rate had slowed down by nearly a half by August 1952, there being a total of twenty-nine houses built between June 1951 and June 1952 owing to protracted negotiations for the possession of sites. By November 1952, however, the last house on the Cranford Road estate was completed and the link through to Borough Road effected, the biggest building scheme in the history of the Petersfield UDC. This substantial development was regarded as a ‘model small town’ with a shop incorporated into the estate consisting of a total of 219 dwellings and 68 Reema houses.


One feature of this period was the tight working unity forged between the UDC, the developers and the civil engineers who worked on the major projects around the town: as Borough Engineers and Surveyors, first Harold Longbottom, then, after his retirement in 1953, John Thomas, were responsible for water supplies (before the Wey Valley water company took this over), the market, highways, the Taro Fair and the Heath, sewerage and new housing estates such as the large Cranford Road–Borough Grove complex. It was John Thomas who introduced sodium street lighting to Petersfield (in the Causeway) in the 1960s, who rebuilt the sewage works in the 1970s, and who was responsible for alleviating the huge problem of flooding which had bedevilled the town for decades.


SOCIAL AMENITIES



Far-reaching plans for the future provision of social amenities in Petersfield were discussed by the Urban District Council in 1948: one proposal was for a children’s recreation ground at Bell Hill, with football and cricket pitches, swings and a paddling pool; another was for a sports ground at Love Lane with rugby and football pitches, a swimming pool and a running track; a third facility was to be a car park and perhaps a bus station in the centre of town. About forty people representing Petersfield societies had also called upon the UDC to provide a community centre for the town, while an equally vociferous call was made for a youth centre.


One activity popular with local young men at the time was cycle speedway: Petersfield was represented by the ‘Highfield Cobras’ whose home track was at Kimber’s Field (now Kimbers) and they had many hundreds of followers who went to their competitions against other teams from Hampshire and beyond. An annual cycle speedway match was held at the British Legion Fête in the Grange Field (now the site of The Petersfield School). With the return of Petersfield’s newly demobbed servicemen, the town’s former clubs and societies began to start up again. There were jobs available for the returnees too: the Post Office was a big employer, the Itshide rubber factory took on staff, the local council offered manual jobs, and some people went up to Longmoor to find work. It was as if Petersfield, unlike Horndean for example, was self-sufficient in labour supply and demand.


Charles Dickins, Scoutmaster of the Petersfield Troop, reported that three youth clubs had started since the war and had died out. It was Mr Dickins who had held the Scout troop together for thirty-seven years with a break of only three years during the First World War; he had been engaged on youth work for at least forty-two years during his lifetime and his belief was that, as the 1st Petersfield Scout Group (Lord Selborne’s Own) had been formed in 1909, it must have been one of the oldest in the country. Their most recent achievement was the wartime collection and sorting of waste paper; the eighty or more boys had worked in relays on the organisation of the salvage, and had even bought a baler and two storage sheds, which were erected at the back of the Scout hut in Heath Road which the Scouts had moved into in 1915. An average of 2 tons of paper was collected each week during the war years.


The town library, which had moved premises three times since it had started in 1926, now took over Winton House in the High Street. Its first home had been above Mr E.J. Baker’s butcher’s shop (now Superdrug), then the Working Men’s Club in Station Road, then a special room was dedicated to it in the town hall, until the demands of the war forced it to move back to the Men’s Club. The Librarian, Mr Edgar Morris, had remained in his job throughout all these years of change and was now congratulated on his ‘yeoman service’. A year later, the Squeaker joined those who were campaigning for a designated new library site in the town.


With the advent of the National Health Service in 1948, the old Petersfield Cottage Hospital became a state-run hospital. However, doctors in the district, who until then had consistently opposed the emergent National Health Service introduced by the Labour government of Clement Attlee, now decided to follow the advice of the BMA Council and join the service when it started in July of that year.


A further major consideration in these developments was the success of the Petersfield Cottage Hospital and how it was to cope under the new regime: the government had taken over the hospital and placed it within the scope of the Portsmouth Group Management Committee. However, Miss Bates, who had been Matron at the hospital for nearly twenty years, agreed that the hospital was running ‘just as smoothly as ever’, apart from the form-filling which had accompanied the change in management structure.


Meanwhile, the Petersfield Isolation Hospital in Durford Road (on the site of Home Way), which was closed in the middle of 1948, reopened in September 1949 as ‘Heathside’ with the aim of providing beds for up to forty chronically sick patients in three wards. Furthermore, in 1950, it was proposed to spend £2,500 on converting the old Public Assistance (or Poor Law) Institution in Ramshill (more generally referred to as the Workhouse) into a new Public Health Centre; but this project was later transferred to Swan Street on a site which had already been identified as a potential site for a fire station.


THE FESTIVAL OF BRITAIN



Despite its detractors, who branded it a colossal prodigality of money and effort, the national event which captured the imagination that year was the Festival of Britain, held on the South Bank of the Thames in the summer of 1951. Like other towns and villages throughout Britain at the time, Petersfield organised its own ‘Festival of Britain Carnival’ over two weeks at Whitsun. Despite postwar austerity, yards of bunting, hundreds of coloured lights and nearly two thousand tulips decorated The Square. Early preparations the previous year suggested that apathy was rife, but this was compensated for by the enthusiasm of the British Legion, the Petersfield Chamber of Commerce, the Victoria Brass Band and various youth organisations which worked hard from February until May that year. Under the chairmanship of Mr Charles Dickins, almost every organisation in the town contributed to the success of the fortnight which, as the advert showed, catered for all tastes. The Grand Carnival Procession drew about three thousand people into the town to see the half-mile of the procession with its floats of musical or dramatic displays, tableaux and equestrian sections, marching bands and a final dog show and evening of jitterbugging in The Square.


Perhaps it was in the same spirit of morale-boosting that a call was made later in the year to ‘brighten up Petersfield’: Mr R.H. Fielder spoke at a general meeting of the Chamber of Commerce about the need to enhance the four entrances to the town by erecting welcoming signs, that an illustrated map be placed in The Square, and that The Avenue approach to the Heath be improved for visitors. He generally complained about the poor state of railings seen around the town and called for a putting green to be created on the Heath.


1951 also marked the fiftieth anniversary of the founding of the Victoria Brass Band and of the Petersfield Musical Festival. The Victoria Brass Band had been formed by the youthful Fred Kimber and Mr Gale in 1901, although its survival had been precarious over the years; there was even a hope that a bandstand could be built for them on the Heath, but this was never realised.


The Musical Festival had had a steadier history, although it had not taken place during the First World War or in 1944. In 1947, the Petersfield Operatic and Dramatic Society had also been revived after lying dormant since pre-war days; its first production since before the war was Gilbert and Sullivan’s Iolanthe in 1950. The same year, the Salisbury Arts Theatre Group brought its repertoire to Petersfield and the Musical Festival was going ‘from strength to strength’, according to its conductor Dr Sydney Watson. Famous names in the world of music came to the town to perform in the orchestral concerts, among them the oboist Leon Goossens and the pianist Nina Milkina.


At the end of the war, Kathleen Money-Chappelle had set up her school of music in her new family home at 24 High Street (now the Petersfield Herald office) where she gave private lessons in music, singing, speech and drama, preparing pupils for the Musical Festival and other competitions, examinations, theatre and TV productions, and plays for local drama groups, including the Petersfield Musical, Dramatic and Social Club, which she herself often directed. She kept the support of many who, like Lord Horder, had backed her highly successful wartime enterprise, the ‘Home from Home’ canteen for servicemen in College Street.


PLANNING PETERSFIELD’S DEVELOPMENT



The fire at Norman Burton’s well-known drapery business in The Square in January 1947, which gutted the building and caused thousands of pounds worth of damage to its stock of clothing, furnishings and toys, seemed to be an almost symbolic act of destruction, not only to one of the most flourishing and longest-established businesses in the town, but also to the status of the town itself. In eliminating a centuries-old building and high-class enterprise in the town centre, the fire gave the appearance of having tolled the knell of ‘old Petersfield’, characterised by a clear-cut social class hierarchy which determined the shopping habits of its citizens. The strictly middle-class Burton’s was renowned for its elegance: its polished wood cabinets and carpeted floors lent an aura of sophistication to the town, but it was not frequented by the working classes. It had, however, been very popular at the end of the war when it was the first shop in Petersfield to stock nylon stockings.
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The Victoria Brass Band, Walter Bone in the centre, c. 1950. (Petersfield Museum)


The Burton’s fire episode smacked of a great portent – it occurred in the early hours of the morning, thereby sparing any human tragedy, but the snow which was falling (not for the first time during that memorably freezing winter) lent the whole scene a macabre atmosphere of unreal proportions. The subsequent press reports seemed to echo this feeling, with talk of a ‘calamity’, ‘a fearsome and striking spectacle’ and expressing the hope that the shop ‘will rise again’. Thanks to the early discovery of the fire and the rapid intervention of the Petersfield company of the NFS fire brigade, the adjacent premises of A.G. Suthers (now part of Barclays Bank) and The Square Brewery were saved.
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Festival Hall commemoration to Dr Harry Roberts, sketched by Flora Twort in 1947. (Author’s Collection)


The harsh winter of 1946–7 brought with it a desperate shortage of fuel, shopping by candlelight, and the reliance on oil lamps and paraffin stoves in offices and homes. An ice storm (‘only the second in living memory’) plunged Petersfield into darkness for two days, electric power cables crashed to the ground and light industry and road and rail travel were paralysed. Ice-coated trees snapped and fell across roads, and vehicles left in the open were frozen to the ground. Some householders who kept chickens found that they had to dig them out of the snow in the mornings!


Under the terms of the Town and Country Planning Act of 1947, the Ministry was required to prepare lists of buildings which were to be preserved and could not be demolished or altered without permission. Petersfield’s historic and architectural heritage was, it was claimed, to be preserved for all time, and more than sixty buildings in the town and its immediate locality were listed by the Ministry to this end. The list included both public buildings and private residences and a further list of seventy was drawn up which, while supposedly not of historic or architectural interest in themselves, were nevertheless deemed worthy of preservation because they added to the general group effect.


In its turn, the Squeaker rightly pointed out that it had for some time been stressing that the future prosperity of Petersfield stood or fell on the careful preservation of its atmosphere of an old English country town. With the publication of the Ministry’s document, therefore, it felt secure in pro-claiming that ‘barring accidents, and with the exercise of vigilance and good taste, there is a possibility of a steadily rising crescendo of prosperity in which all can participate’ and ‘Petersfield is quite exceptionally well placed for steady and well-planned development in the next decade’. The group best placed to maintain such vigilance over the town’s development was the Petersfield Society, formed in July 1945 through the instigation of Edward Barnsley under the provisional title of ‘Group for the Preservation and Improvement of Petersfield’. He had written:
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The Petersfield School of Music, 1950s. (David Money-Chappelle)




The town of Petersfield and its neighbourhood is one of the most beautiful in the South of England. It is a matter of the greatest importance that its character be preserved in future development. The postwar period will bring rapid changes and difficult problems, and if these are not carefully organised and controlled there will be grave danger that irretrievable damage will be done.





It will be interesting and instructive, but also tragic, to see just how these fine sentiments were disregarded and abused in the decade following the 1950s.


Discussions in the Petersfield UDC in 1949 over the use of land within the town showed some differences of opinion over the future of The Grange site in the Causeway and the Love Lane site. With the developing conflict over the market added to the picture, it was difficult to reach unanimity on how to handle all of these vitally important future developments. In addition to these problems, an offer from South Eastern Farmers Ltd to purchase council land in Frenchman’s Road was rejected and the council now approached the Ministry of Health for permission to sell the site to J.B. Corrie (Flextella) Ltd who had acquired the old Flextella (part of the Portsmouth Steel Company) site in 1947 and who were seeking to double their capacity. This project, approved by the Urban District Council, marked the first step in their intention to expand Petersfield and to introduce more light industry into the town. Corrie’s adopted Flextella’s main product, aluminium chain-link fencing, which sold well for use on housing estates and parks, and to railway companies and coal mines; they therefore had a high priority with various government departments.


1952


The national event which marked the year was the death of King George VI in February. In Petersfield, as everywhere in Britain, there were memorial services in the churches, the Savoy cinema closed briefly, social life came to a standstill with the cancellation or postponement of dances, dinners and suchlike, and flags were lowered to half mast throughout the town. Shortly after 2 p.m. (it was a Wednesday market day) a special knell was tolled fifty-six times on the bells of St Peter’s to mark the fifty-six years of the King’s life. Business premises draped their windows with black and mauve cloth. At church services, congregations concluded their worship by singing ‘God save the Queen’ for the first time in over fifty years.


Earlier in the year, the statue of William III had officially become an Ancient Monument by being scheduled as such by the Ministry of Works. The practical effect of this legislation was to deny the UDC any right to do anything with the statue without the explicit permission of the Ministry, despite the fact that it was the UDC which had purchased it for the town in 1911, a hundred years after its first arrival as a gift from the Jolliffe family. It was renovated by the Ministry in 1957.


In his maiden speech in the House of Commons during the second reading of the Town Development Bill in March 1952, the Hon. Peter Legh, Petersfield’s new MP, hit hard at the planners ‘sitting in their offices in every county borough in the land, poring over maps and searching for little, inoffensive country towns upon which to pounce and to expand into what they like to call a balanced community’. In what, with hindsight, can be viewed as a foreshadowing of what the 1960s were to bring to Petersfield, he said: ‘what a paradise there will be for [the planners] if they are permitted to expand a small town until they have achieved their idea of a balanced community’. Perhaps with an even greater sense of foresight, he spoke of ‘a danger that new light industries in the expanded towns will attract labour away from agriculture and horticulture’.


By the end of 1952, there appeared to be some indications of a revival of spirits: another town carnival took place in the summer and crowds danced in The Square. One newspaper described the scene: a floodlight was trained on the statue of William and a huge silhouette of the mounted king was projected onto the wall of St Peter’s Church in the background; the Squeaker predicted a cheaper Christmas for all, with big reductions in the price of children’s toys and luxury foods, a plentiful supply of unrationed food and tinned fruit, and a better supply of fresh English fruit and turkeys. A Christmas tree, complete with decorations and fairy lights, was erected outside St Peter’s Church. It was as if the postwar gloom had lifted the spirits and Petersfield, like the rest of the country, was preparing itself, in 1953, to welcome a new Elizabethan era.


DEPARTURES



Petersfield inevitably changed as its links with the past were being slowly but inexorably severed by the loss of some its local luminaries in the years immediately after the war. Until this time, it was not uncommon for people in public office to spend the best part of their lives (in both senses) in the service of the community.


The death of Dr Harry Roberts in November 1946 merited a lengthy tribute from the Squeaker, in which the distinguished doctor, writer and social reformer was remembered for having had a great impact and influence on the people of Petersfield and, in particular, on the residents of Oakshott Hanger, where he had lived for the last thirty-eight years of his life. His cultural, intellectual and practical legacy for the town was visible in the bookshop he created at 1 and 2 The Square; in the Festival Hall; in his personal involvement in the Petersfield Arts and Crafts Society and the Petersfield Society; and in the youth club and darts club he supported in Hawkley. In a BBC broadcast in 1948 entitled Western Lives, the novelist and critic V.S. Pritchett described Harry Roberts as a famous East End doctor, a politician of some pugnacity and, later on, a sort of saint in Stepney life. Half his week he spent in Hampshire, and there in corduroys and heavy boots he rode horses, gardened, hammered, read books, listened to music, botanised in his acres or sat writing in the largest and untidiest study I have seen in my life.
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Letter to the press announcing the establishment of the Petersfield Society, 1944. (Petersfield Society)


At the 42nd Musical Festival in 1948, the memorial plaque to Harry Roberts in the ‘Large Hall’ (now The Festival Hall) was unveiled by Sir Adrian Boult.


The deaths of Mr Percy Burley, Clerk to the UDC for thirty-three years, and of Mr Arthur Mackarness, the Clerk of the RDC after forty-four years’ service to the community, not only deprived the two councils of their most experienced members and valued clerks, but it depleted the strong representation of the law in the town by removing two respected solicitors from their family firms, namely Burley and Geach, and Mackarness and Lunt.


Percy Burley, who died in 1947, had been Town Clerk and, like his father, W.C. Burley, before him, had filled many influential positions in the life of the town. He was particularly associated in an official capacity with Petersfield’s schools, becoming the first secretary and vice-president of the Old Churcherians, Clerk to the Governors of Churcher’s and Manager of the Petersfield and Sheet Council Schools. He was also a trustee and organist and choirmaster of the Methodist Church, Chairman of the Operatic Society, and one of the oldest members of the Petersfield Lodge of Freemasons. He was an earnest and strong supporter of the United Nations Association, superintendent registrar of births, deaths and marriages, a member of the committees of the Petersfield WI (Women’s Institute) and YWCA (Young Women’s Christian Association) and a director of many local companies.


The death in his 86th year of Mr A.J.C. Mackarness, in 1950, engendered the same feeling of great sadness and loss to the town. He had been Clerk to the Petersfield Isolation Hospital, registrar of the County Court and on the management committee of Petersfield Hospital for many years. Like Mr Burley, his hobbies included music and singing and he was a founder member of the Petersfield Musical Festival; also like Mr Burley, he was a keen churchman and was Churchwarden of St Peter’s. He had been Chairman of the committee that eventually got the town hall built, was a district commissioner in the Boy Scouts and an active member of the East Hants Conservative Association.


Frank Carpenter was one of the best-known Petersfield characters of the pre-war, wartime and postwar years; he finally retired from the Squeaker in 1948 after fifty-six years as its editor. Public respect for him was so great that the UDC recognised his service to the community by opening a testimonial fund to him. He championed everything he felt to be of value to Petersfield and played a vigorous part in supporting Harry Roberts’ call for the construction of a town hall in 1935. His participation in the life of the town was immense: he taught shorthand at Churcher’s College and at evening classes; for half a century he was a member of the Petersfield Literary and Debating Society; he served as secretary of the Working Men’s Institute; he was a senior member of St Peter’s choir; and he captained the town’s football eleven. But it was for his devotion to his professional duties as chief newspaper reporter that we owe him our deepest gratitude: Frank Carpenter saw it as his job to record the town’s events for posterity and, thanks to this, his impeccably written reports have become the town’s history.


Two well-known Petersfield business people died in 1948: Miss Elizabeth Amey and Mr Victor Britnell. Miss Amey directed the fortunes of the Borough Brewery which had been established in Swan Street by her father Thomas Amey in the 1870s. Two young brothers at Emanuel School who were billeted with her in the war remember her as the spitting image of Queen Victoria, with her black dress buttoned to the neck and leather boots. She lived grandly, employing a butler, maid, cook and housekeeper. Mr Britnell had come to Petersfield in 1894 and later founded the motor sales and engineering firm Britnell and Crawter which traded in what is now the Folly Market. His home was in Love Lane and was the only private house to be bombed during the war; it stood close to the old Public Institution (known generally as the Workhouse) which took a direct hit from a lone German bomber in November 1940.
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William III is repaired, 1950. (The Petersfield Society)


Two other well-known Petersfield personalities died in 1951. The first, Mr F.F. Wooldridge, was one of the chief pioneers of the National Farmers’ Union in Hampshire and a manager of South Eastern Farmers Ltd, the Petersfield-based company which dealt with the farm collections, and the processing and bottling of milk at its depot in Station Road (opposite the station). It was a seminal company in the history of milk production, which eventually led to the creation of the national Milk Marketing Board. Mr Wooldridge became the Manager of United Dairies when it took over South Eastern Farmers.
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